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MESSAGE FROM 
CHAIRMAN AND PRINCIPAL & CEO

In the year under review (1 Apr 2019 – 31 Mar 
2020), NYP made significant progress in our 
strategic goals and initiatives which, in turn, 

progressed our vision of building a nexus of future-
ready people, learners and industry. Among the 
highlights: We’ve solidified our efforts to build and 
live our Innovative and Enterprising (I&E) culture, 
we’ve augmented our industry strategy, and 
improved processes for staff engagement.

In Academic Year 2019, NYP had a total student 
enrolment of 14,522 across 47 full-time diploma 
courses and Common Entry Programmes on the 
Pre-Employment Training side of the house. In 
the same period, 4,478 students graduated from 
their full-time studies, bringing the total number 
of diploma graduates at NYP to 101,306 since our 
inception in 1992. More than 90 per cent of NYP 
graduates found employment within six months 
of graduation.

In the Continuing Education & Training 
space, lifelong learning remained a priority 
as we continued to scale up opportunities for 
Singapore’s workforce through strengthening our 
in-house expertise and diversifying our suite of 
programmes. In the vein of lifelong learning, we 
launched more than 100 new courses ranging from 
Specialist and Advanced Diplomas to Work-Study 
Programmes and short courses. This brought our 
total training places offered in AY2019 to more 
than 58,408. More notably, we clocked close to 
two million training hours for adult learners.

We have sailed true to compass despite some 
deeply turbulent waters wrought by the global 
COVID-19 pandemic. The novel coronavirus, which 
appeared on our shores in Jan 2020, had a vast 
impact on work and life. There had to be major 
changes in NYP’s operations and programmes as 
we responded promptly and dynamically to the 

situation. We can report that NYP continues to 
strive, and we have conquered odds by innovating 
solutions to new situations. The safety of our 
community remains a top priority.

A key takeaway from COVID-19 for us is that we 
must strengthen our I&E culture and help our 
students prepare for a digital-first world where 
disruptions will come even harder and faster. 

Strengthening Our I&E 
Curriculum
This year, as part of working on our brand promise 
and the strategic goal of living our I&E culture, we 
worked on strengthening the I&E skills ecosystem 
for our students.

Having earlier incorporated design processes, 
data, collaboration practices and resourcing skills 
in the Foundation level for first-year students, 
we rolled out the Intermediate level curriculum 
for Year 2s. In the Intermediate level, students 
work on multi-disciplinary projects and go 
through mentorships with domain experts. 
NYP’s I&E Office (IEO) also launched its Pre-
Incubator programme - iO - that provides learners 
and alumni with consultation on starting-up,  
resources, project funding of up to $10,000, as well 
as external network connections. As part of our 
commitment to inculcate an I&E mindset, IEO’s 
overall evaluation transited from innovativeness 
of NYP to learners’ innovation maturity level.

Another feature of the Intermediate level: 
Students can opt for an Overseas Short-Term 
Attachment to universities, innovation arms of big 
multinational corporations, or top incubators to 
expose them to I&E practices. The first two batches 
of students headed to Bangkok and Jakarta, and 
applied basic I&E skills to support corporates and 

start-ups with  their innovation endeavours during 
their two-week stint. This programme was put on 
hold with COVID-19, but we look forward to its  
eventual return.

Besides strengthening the academic curriculum 
and experience for students, NYP worked with 
our industry partners to keep our I&E edge strong. 
In 2019, the School of Information Technology 
set up the Centre of Innovation for Connected 
Intelligence with TIBCO Software, a global leader 
in Data Science and Machine Learning platforms. 
Data, and one’s facility with data practices, are 
key components to understanding where the 
opportunities lie so as to start the I&E process. 
Tracking and reporting of the innovations 
employed also require strong data literacy. With 
this new centre, students from the School of 
Information Technology can gain competitive 
advantage and develop and strengthen 
competencies in areas such as streaming analytics 
and visualisation.

Then, the advent of 5G brings about myriad 
opportunities for innovation. More than a 
connectivity upgrade, 5G is a catalyst for disruptive 
innovation on a massive scale. Ahead of the 
nationwide 5G roll-out, NYP – together with long-
time partner, StarHub – launched a new centre 
to accelerate 5G innovation as well as to create a 
new cadre of talent. The NYPStarHub Application 
& Experience Centre for 5G, housed at the School 
of Engineering, is an all-in-one facility for training 
talent, industry co-development and testing 
proofs of concepts. The centre leveraged both 
partners’ extensive industry network for deep 
knowledge sharing, ideation and experimentation. 
Since its inception in Jan 2020, the Centre has 
tied up with the Singapore General Hospital on 
real-time remote monitoring of patients in the 
Emergency Department, BHG Singapore on video 

analytics to track customers’ retail behaviour, 
and STMicroelectronics on smart manufacturing 
processes to detect the smallest of defects.

Pushing Our Industry 
Strategy
This year, we took solid steps to differentiate 
NYP strategically with industry. We have long 
prided ourselves on our heritage as an industry-
centric organisation with strong connections to 
partners that allow for excellent experiences for 
our learners. NYP’s Centre for Industry & Lifelong 
Learning (CIL3) led the effort to roll out our 
Industry Collaboration Framework to reinforce 
and keep our connections strong. The framework 
focuses on four main approaches to working 
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with partners: Attracting & Nurturing Talents, 
Developing Solutions, Deepening of Skills and 
Implementing Workplace Learning. 

With this framework, NYP ensures a sustainable 
pipeline of talent – with regular curriculum reviews 
to equip learners with new relevant skills.  We 
have deepened our collaboration with industry 
leaders to co-create, co-teach and co-certify 
programmes with the goal to ensure even greater 
alignment and better support learners in their 
career or professional progression. To illustrate, 
NYP partnered Ernst & Young and the Association 
of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) to 
equip our School of Business Management 
students with industry-ready skills and future-
oriented competencies underpinned by the 

ACCA qualification. Likewise, the Memorandum of 
Understanding signed with Infineon Technologies 
Asia Pacific allowed us to co-design training 
programmes and co-create demand-driven 
innovations, enabling learners from the School 
of Engineering to develop digital transformation 
skills in Internet of Things technology. 

In addition, we spelt out what Industry Projects 
and Applied R&D we seek to do with our 
partners and these, in turn, deepen and broaden 
capabilities within Singapore’s SMEs and chart 
a roadmap to train up the workforce. NYP also 
offers a comprehensive range of programmes to 
help the industry upskill; spanning across verticals 
such as Infocom Technology, Engineering and 
Healthcare which are supported through our 
schools and CET institutes, as well as horizontals 
such as Data Analytics, Artificial Intelligence, and 
Design Thinking.

Under the NYP360 banner, which is NYP’s 
approach towards industry collaboration, we 
harnessed and combined the expertise across 
schools and CET institutes to provide end-to-end 
solutions for industry in four strategic sectors – 
Advanced Manufacturing, Food, Healthcare and 
Retail. In an NYP360 collaboration with Nestle, 
a multidisciplinary team from the School of 
Chemical & Life Sciences, School of Design and 
the School of Engineering worked to offer holistic 
solutions to improve the firm’s ice-cream product 
development, packaging, as well as warehousing 
and retail process enhancements.

In FY2019/20, we continued to play a leading role 
in Workplace Learning through the National Centre 
of Excellence for Workplace Learning (NACE). NYP 
enabled companies to build capabilities and 
implement Workplace Learning to strengthen 

the nexus between acquisition and the utilisation 
of deep skills in enterprises. It also offered new 
areas of training that had strong synergy with the 
schools’ professional domain areas. For example, 
NYP launched a proprietary curriculum developed 
in partnership with Maybank Singapore, and 
accredited by the Institute of Banking and Finance 
Singapore in Apr 2019, to upskill financial industry 
professionals to ride the digital wave. 

Enhancing Staff 
Engagement
Undergirding our efforts in NYP are our staff. 
One of our strategic goals involves engaging and 
developing our people.

In 2019, HR holistically reviewed the suite of 
staff benefits. In the exercise, HR looked aat 
five elements of engagement and wellbeing: 
Physical, Psychological, Development, Social and 
Community. HR also looked at the suite of wellness 
programmes available and spelt out clearly how 
staff may access these. Another revised initiative 
ensured that retiring staff would go through 
three phases of engagement in appreciation of 
their efforts. Altogether, there were 13 initiatives 
implemented in this review.

Also on staff, we would like to put on record 
our pride in our members who have stepped 
up to innovate new solutions to make life and 
work better: Dr Koh Noi Sian from the School of 
Information Technology received the prestigious 
President’s Award for Teachers in Aug 2019. She 
co-developed an AI-based facial recognition 
system which captures signals when a student 
is having learning difficulties and delivers a real-
time prompt that helps them solve the problem 
at hand. The very practical intervention gives 

students the confidence they need at the right 
juncture, to enhance their learning outcomes.

Staff from the School of Information Technology 
and the School of Health & Social Sciences (SHSS) 
also created an interactive real-time teaching and 
learning platform. Called EXSERLAN (Extensible 
Seamless Real-time Learning Analytics), the app 
automatically tabulates and analyses learners’ 
interaction and updates the lecturer’s dashboard. 
At a glance, it shows the students’ level of 
understanding and identifies topics that more 
students have difficulties with. The innovation 
was piloted with SHSS students and had positive 
results which the team presented at the Asia-
Pacific Medical Education Conference in Jan 
2020. With EXSERLAN, real-time analytics became 
the norm. This is crucial in a day and age where 
COVID-19 has necessitated the move of lessons to 
online platforms.

In Appreciation
As we closed the Financial Year, COVID-19 was 
truly impacting and disrupting our traditional 
ways of doing things. Change is exciting even as 
it is difficult; NYP remains strong as we have come 
together cohesively and set our minds to achieve 
our goals. Our appreciation goes to the members 
of our Board of Governors and the School Advisory 
Committees, our industry partners, donors, and 
our staff for all the support and trust. We will 
continue to be agile and forge a way forward.

PRINCIPAL & CEO
Ms Jeanne Liew
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FACTS & 
FIGURES

14,522
Total Student Enrolment

58,408
Total Training Places for CET

1,455
Staff Strength

86
CCAs that range from arts and 
culture, sports, to leadership 
and character development 
and community service

47
Full-time Diploma Courses and 
Common Entry Programmes

> 400
Continuing Education & Training 
Courses were offered by NYP. 
This includes Advanced and 
Specialist Diplomas, Work-Study 
Programmes and short courses.

4,478
students graduated from 
full-time diploma courses

> 90%
of our graduates found 
employment within six 
months of graduation in 2019
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR LEARNERS

Fantastic Results at WorldSkills 
Kazan 2019

NYP competitors proved their mettle on the world stage, clinching Singapore’s 
two gold medals at the 45th WorldSkills Competition (WSC). Dubbed the Youth 
Olympics of Skills, the 2019 edition of WSC was held in Kazan, Russia from 22 
to 27 Aug 2019. Team Singapore was up against more than 1,300 competitors 
from 63 countries competing in 56 skills areas. School of Interactive & Digital 
Media student Tan Ying Ying bagged gold in 3D Digital Game Art, a new skills 
area in WSC 2019. Regina Chia from the School of Health & Social Sciences 
emerged champion in the Health & Social Care category. In addition, the entire 
NYP contingent of 15 competitors all received Medallions for Excellence, 
presented to those who attained at least 700 out of 800 points in the skills 
areas they competed in.

The bemedalled NYP contingent at WorldSkills Kazan 2019. Tan Ying Ying also received the Best of Nation award, 
presented to the highest scorer from each country.

The triumphant team present their winning idea.

Our students take a wefie with President Halimah.

Team NYP poses with their mentors and coaches.

Regina Chia looking triumphant after receiving her medal.

Facilities at NUCOHS help our students acquire critical competencies effectively.

In Apr 2019, the Diploma in Oral Health Therapy 
moved into a new clinical training facility located 
at the National University Centre for Oral Health 
Singapore (NUCOHS). The facility boasts 26 
dental operatories, a dedicated seminar room 
and a meeting room to provide opportunities 
for collaborative learning with other clinics 
housed at the centre. With the launch, most of 
the training for our Oral Health Therapy students 
will now be done under one roof. Modules such 
as Pharmacology, Radiology and Oral Medicine – 
which were traditionally taught in the classrooms 
– are now being taught onsite in an actual 
clinic setting, to allow greater opportunity for 
observation and hands-on practice. Through this 
approach, students are now able to acquire critical 
competencies earlier.

New Facility for Oral 
Health Students

Student Team Produced 
Award-Winning Fishcakes

An inter-school collaboration with Thong Siek Food 
Industry led to Singapore’s first texture-modified 
Teochew fishcakes. The team comprising students  
from the School of Business Management, the 
School of Chemical & Life Sciences and the 
School of Design, together with the local leading 
seafood manufacturer, not only successfully 
developed soft-textured fishcake that allows ease 
of swallowing, they also ensured that the fishcake 
provided adequate sources of protein, calcium 
and dietary fiber for the elderly. Their creation won 
them the “Most Marketing Potential Award” at the 
Food Innovation Product Award 2019.

President Halimah Yacob
Visits NYP

In Jul 2019, President Halimah Yacob visited the 
NYP campus and met up with our students from 
the School of Health & Social Sciences (SHSS). As 
part of her visit, Madam President had an engaging 
dialogue session with our Nursing and Social Work 
students and toured the teaching facilities in SHSS.

2nd Place in Global 
IT Competition 

Team NYP aced the national and regional rounds, 
before placing 2nd in the Huawei ICT Competition 
2019 Global Final (Cloud Track) held on 25 to 26 May 
2019. The winning trio comprised of two students 
from the School of Engineering and a student 
from the School of Information Technology. Held 
in Shenzhen, China, the prestigious tournament 
attracted more than 100,000 students from over 
1,600 universities in 61 countries.
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR LEARNERS

Awards for COOP Huat Big Time!

Gamifying Library Orientation

Top Honours in Indigo 
Design Awards

Regional Internships for SBM Students

COOP – a brainchild of School of Design’s Diploma 
in Architecture students – scored multiple awards 
for its outstanding design quality. The structure, 
made up of separate pieces, was honoured the 
Singapore Good Design Mark in Jul 2019. COOP 
also bagged the Singapore Design Award, and 
the Cities of Love Award, which recognises 
innovative solutions that have a positive impact 
on sustainability.

Our NYP students beat over 250 teams and 
emerged as champions in the Youth category of 
the N.E.mation! 2020 competition – organised 
by Nexus, Ministry of Defence’s Central National 
Education Office. Comprising four School of 
Interactive & Digital Media students, Team Huat 
Ah! 888 walked away with an internship at a local 
production studio and prizes worth $1,000. Their 
winning idea was an animation clip about a group 
of people who came together to save an elderly 
woman. Co-creating with NEXUS and Singapore 
Press Holdings sharpened our students’ animation 
and story-telling skills in producing short clips.

In an innovative first, NYP librarians employed Augmented Reality (AR) 
and game-based learning for the virtual orientation. The NYP Library team 
redesigned the activity using MetaVerse, an AR educational tool, to inject 
interactive content about the library. The learning journey – which is part of 
our freshmen orientation – included bite-size and mobile-friendly content on 
library facilities and services, alongside 3D images. These served as clues for 
students to learn and discover. The new tool, launched in Mar 2020, can be 
accessed remotely or on-site, making learning flexible in any situation.

Five student teams from the School of Interactive 
& Digital Media won two Golds, one Silver and 
two Bronzes at Indigo Design Awards – a global 
platform for design excellence. They received top 
honours in the categories of Innovative Use of 
Mobile Technology, Digital Tools & Utilities and 
UX, Interface & Navigation. A jury panel made 
up of key industry players like product designers, 
creative directors and professors judged entries 
based on design, innovation and functionality.

As part of the School of Business Management’s objective to produce global-
ready learners, new collaborations have been inked with Malaysia’s satellite 
television provider, Astro Malaysia Holdings and United Overseas Bank’s 
Thailand office. The new partnerships offer internship opportunities for our 
students. Six students have since completed and enjoyed their stints abroad, 
citing there was much to learn from the different cultural and business 
environments.

The award-winning structure came from our Architecture students.

Team Huat Ah! 888 exuberantly celebrates after their win.

The novel onboarding improves the experience for our 
freshmen at the Library.

The leads for the teams that won Gold flew to Spain to attend the award presentation.

Online Marketplace for Students 
by Students

Students from the School of Business Management launched an online 
platform called Market+. The site is entirely managed by students and serves 
as a platform for NYP students or alumni who would like to reach out to 
potential buyers. Within a week of its launch in Aug 2019, there were already 
more than 700 product listings on the site, across 140 brands. More than 50 
sellers set up booths over a 2-day roadshow on 30 and 31 Jul 2019 to showcase 
their products.
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PEOPLE

Best Poster at Healthcare Conference

Project Teams Win National Awards

SIT Lecturer Receives President’s Award

Recognition for
Innovation

In Oct 2019, three of our School of Health & Social 
Sciences staff presented their poster on simulation-
based learning at the S3 Conference - considered 
to be Asia’s leading healthcare simulation 
conference. Their entry was placed first among 
24 other local and international contenders in the 

Technology & Operations category. The poster 
was about the self-learning Electronic Medication 
Administration Record system and an e-learning 
training programme that lets nursing students 
practice digitalised medication administration.

Eight NYP project teams were recognised for their innovative solutions 
at the MOE Innergy Awards 2019. These solutions have been successfully 
implemented in NYP. Altogether, the projects received two Golds awards, five 
Silvers and one Bronze. One of the Gold projects involved using educational 
group games to improve students’ interest in contentheavy topics. Two 
NYP staff – Dr Subramaniam Gurusamy from the School of Chemical & Life 
Sciences and Dr Kong Wai Ming from the School of Engineering – also received 
the Outstanding Innovator Award for being key influencers of continual 
improvement and innovation in the education scene.

Dr Koh Noi Sian, senior lecturer from the School of Information Technology, 
was one of the seven recipients of the President’s Award for Teachers in 2019. 
The annual award recognises educators for their dedication and innovation 
in nurturing students. Dr Koh and another colleague developed an affective 
tutoring programme that sends out prompts when it detects a student who is 
facing problems during a lesson.

Two veterans from the School of Engineering 
(SEG) were recognised at the Public Sector 
Transformation Awards 2019.

Senior lecturer Lim Poh Ghee embarked on an 
unprecedented mammoth project to guide 
students in building a fully functional plane from 
scratch. His can-do spirit won him the Public 
Sector Transformation’s Dare to Do Award.

SEG’s lead specialist in Imaging Technology, Oh Tiong Keng, was recognised 
for his work in championing innovation in engineering. He received the 
Exemplary Innovator Award. In his career at NYP, Tiong Keng has been a key 
initiator of over 120 industry project collaborations, and leads the way in SEG’s 
innovation journey - from generating solutions and conducting system trials 
to commercialising patents.

Dr Koh Noi Sian receives her award from President Halimah.

The team from the School of Chemical & Life Sciences with 
their gamified educational tools.

Oh Tiong Keng spearheads the imaging technology 
support for over 50 SMEs.

The NYP team celebrates their winning poster.

Lim Poh Ghee sought to differentiate NYP’s aerospace programme with a novel project.
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PARTNERS 

NYP works closely with our partners to co-develop and co-deliver 
programmes and projects for our learners to strengthen their industry 
experiences, enhance their employability and readiness for work and life.

StarHub and NYP 
Work on 5G Solutions

Growing Capabilities 
in e-Commerce

Maybank Trains with SBM 

New Partners in the UK 

To accelerate 5G innovation as well as create a 
new cadre of 5G talent, NYP partnered StarHub 
to launch a new NYP-StarHub Application & 
Experience Centre for 5G (APEX 5G) in Jan 
2020. Located at the School of Engineering, the 
centre is an all-in-one facility for training talent, 
industry co-development, and testing of new 
use cases. Powering the proof-of-concepts at 
APEX 5G is StarHub’s 5G network running on 
3.5GHz and 28GHz trial spectrum granted by 
the Infocommunications Media Development 
Authority. The centre will train more than a 
hundred students annually in 5G and allied 
technologies across industries.

NYP’s Singapore Institute of Retail Studies (SIRS) 
joined forces with e-retailer giant eBay in Apr 
2019, in a move to benefit small businesses and 
entrepreneurs in Singapore. The MOU focused 
on global e-Commerce training programmes 
that offer local SMEs a holistic support system 
to grow their businesses. The “eBay OnBoarding 
Programme” enables SMEs to optimise cross-
border selling and management of operations.

The School of Business Management delivered a customised training 
programme for Maybank’s professionals. The six courses offered under the 
Maybank Future Ready Programme and accredited by the Institute of Banking 
& Finance, prepared staff for the future landscape of the finance industry. 
The training covered key areas such as data analytics, design thinking and 
cybersecurity, all contextualised for the financial services sector.

NYP inked Memorandums of Understanding with 
three leading organisations in the United Kingdom 
– the University of Sheffield, the Ma nufacturing 
Technology Centre, and Cranfield University in Oct 
2019. These will spur staff capability development 
efforts, innovation, and encourage collaboration. 
All parties also committed to jointly conduct 
R&D training in areas such as Advanced and 
Additive Manufacturing, Artificial Intelligence, 
and Automation and Robotics. Besides inking 
the three MOUs, NYP also visited and started 
new relationships with Bristol Robotics Lab – 
the most comprehensive academic centre for 
multidisciplinary robotics research in the UK – and 
Bristol’s National Composite Centre, a world-class 
research centre driving innovation in the design 
and manufacture of composites. 

PCEO Jeanne Liew (centre) and guests at launch of APEX 5G in Jan 2020.

Director of SIRS, Ms Megan Ong, opening the event with eBay in Apr 2019.

More than 400 Maybank employees have completed the 
suite of courses.

The NYP team focusing on the host’s presentation.

Furthering the Hawker Trade
Aspiring hawkers keen to join the trade are able to train with chefs from 
NYP’s Asian Culinary Institute (NYP-ACI). This five-day training course is part 
of the Hawkers’ Development Programme (HDP), a joint effort by the National 
Environment Agency and SkillsFuture Singapore to sustain and promote the 
hawker trade. Trainees learn food safety and hygiene, fundamental cooking 
techniques, as well as business and marketing skills to leverage social media 
and food delivery apps. NYP-ACI and the Federation of Merchants Associations 
of Singapore also signed an agreement to promote the programme among 
their network of aspiring and existing hawkers.

Happy hawkers at the pilot run of the HDP training.
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The Alumni Connection

Military Marine Protocols 
in VR  

NYP Appointed for 
Pharmacy Sector Training 

Lifelong Learning Carnival

First NYP Interns at IBM Canada   

MOU with TIBCO

To co-create a vibrant Tech Community in NYP, the School of Information 
Technology (SIT) tapped into its alumni base and collaborated with four 
companies, whose founders graduated from SIT - Singapore Computer Guys, 
Buddy Holdings, Ezsofe, and Mischmeister Technology. SIT students, staff, and 
the four tech companies will work on innovative projects and exchange IT 
expertise in the latest technologies. 

A collaboration with the Singapore Armed Forces 
saw our School of  Interactive & Digital Media 
students building a ship recognition Virtual Reality 
(VR) application. This application trains helicopter-
based surveillance officers to recognise marine 
vessels in various weather conditions.

In Nov 2019, NYP’s School of Chemical & Life 
Sciences (SCL) was appointed by the Ministry of 
Health (MOH) as the anchor training provider 
for the Pharmacy support workforce. SCL will 
now develop and deliver skills-based training 
for pharmacy technicians. The programmes will 
address training needs identified by a tripartite 
committee comprising the MOH Pharmacy 
Technician Training & Development Committee 
members from healthcare institutions, MOH  
and NYP.

The 2019 edition of the SkillsFuture Work-Learn Carnival,  led by NYP,  promoted 
awareness of the various Work-Study programmes and enhanced engagement 
with employers. About 50 companies participated in the exhibition as part 
of the carnival. The five polytechnics and ITE also signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding during the event to harmonise OJT Practices. The carnival, with 
then-Minister for Education Mr Ong Ye Kung as Guest of Honour, had about  
3,000 participants.

Minister for Education Mr Ong Ye Kung interacting with 
NYP students.

In 2019, NYP sent students to Canada for an internship with IBM. These 
students are NYP’s first to be attached to IBM’s Centre for Advanced Studies, 
a world-renowned research lab. This lab typically takes in postgraduate  
students from USA and Canada as interns. Thanks to NYP’s long-standing 
partnership with IBM - arising from our staff attachment programme - IBM 
welcomed two School of Information Technology students, who worked on 
applied research projects.

The School of Information Technology joined hands with TIBCO - a leading 
software provider for integration, analytics and eventprocessing - to set up the 
Centre of Innovation for Connected Intelligence. The Centre is a platform for 
talent development in areas such as low code development, API management, 
and streaming analytics and visualisation. In a year, about 1,500 learners can 
access and use the complete TIBCO suite of software.

The project was showcased at SAF’s Innovation Symposium in Oct 2019.

Mr Erich Gerber, vice-president of TIBCO and Mr Daniel 
Wee, director of SIT launched the opening of the COI for 

Connected Intelligence.

The two students worked on applied research projects 
while at IBM.

HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PARTNERS 

The Ripples Effect 
Second year Diploma in Social Sciences (Social Work) students put on a 
heartwarming production – Ripples – in collaboration with the Community 
Action for the Rehabilitation of Ex-Offenders (CARE) Network. Ripples 
follows the journey of four individuals from various backgrounds, who came 
together to address rising tensions and prejudices against ex-offenders 
in a neighbourhood. President Halimah Yacob graced the event as Guest  
of Honour.

Our SHSS students proudly giving a token of appreciation 
to President Halimah.

27
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

26



HIGHLIGHTS
OUR CULTURE

Developing Solutions 
in Healthcare 

Building I&E Capabilities

Green Mark 
Platinum Award

The Healthcare Technology & Innovation 
Centre (HTIC) was set up in Feb 2020 to provide 
multidisciplinary support under the NYP360 
banner.  

HTIC, housed  at  the  School of  Engineering, has 
since forged partnerships with major healthcare 
players like Tan Tock Seng Hospital, Essilor R&D 
Centre, and the Singapore Health Technologies 
Consortium. The collaborators seek to innovate 
and deliver solutions in areas such as Internet 
of Medical Things, telehealth, wearable medical 
devices, as well as rehabilitation and assistive 
technology.

Sep 2019 saw our first batch of students headed 
to Bangkok under the Overseas Short-Term 
Attachments initiative to hone their I&E skills 
abroad. Armed with their repertoire of I&E skills 
developed in NYP, they supported corporations 
and start-ups in their innovation efforts. Through 
True Corporation, our anchor partner in Thailand, 
our students participated in a three-day mixed 
team Ideation Competition with Chulalongkorn 
University students. They also got to hear a School 
of Business Management alumnus share about his 
experience and challenges in setting up a business 
in Thailand.

NYP was awarded the Green Mark Platinum Award 
in Sep 2019 by the Building and Construction 
Authority for our efforts towards environmental 
sustainability. Our continuous development of 
innovative solutions to conserve energy and water 
- which also improved building performance - 
helped us clinch the award.

C-Suite Session with NACE 
NACE invited speakers from different industries 
to share their best practices in sustainable 
implementation of Industry 4.0 operations and 
technologies at the SkillsFuture Festival Enterprise 
Series in Jul 2019.

Titled “Digital Transformation: Empowerment 
Through Digitisation and Workplace Learning”, 
the speakers shared insights into the  
importance of digitalisation, and the need for 
innovation at the workplace. The session was 
attended by management representatives of 
various companies.

Better Library Experience
with Innovation

The NYP Library initiated the Smart Locker project 
– an innovative way for staff and students to 
access library materials beyond operational hours. 
Implemented in Apr 2019, these self-service 
lockers allow staff and students to loan, collect 
and return library materials, including learning 
kits and gadgets from our ‘Library of Things’, at  
their convenience. 

It has proven to be especially useful now that 
social distancing is paramount.

The Smart Locker project is an innovation that improves the Library experience.

Guests listening attentively to our speakers.

Visitors can experience healthcare technology and innovation projects at the centre. NYP students having a discussion on I&E application.

NYP seeks to inculcate an innovative and enterprising mindset in ourselves 
and learners, and sustains this I&E culture through opportunities at all levels 
within a conducive and supportive environment.
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NYP EDUCATION FUND
IPC Registration Number: IPC000540
UEN:  T08CC3008E
Charity Registration Date:  1 April 2003
Registered Address:  180 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 8 Singapore 569830

The Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP) Education 
Fund was set up in 2003 to meet the needs 
of the Polytechnic. The Fund is managed by a 
management committee appointed by NYP’s 
Board of Governors and seeks to ensure that the 
usage of donations given by generous donors is 
aligned with the objectives of the Fund. In April 
2019, the Fund was granted a renewal of its status 
as an Institution of Public Character (IPC) by the 
Commissioner of Charities of Singapore.

OBJECTIVES
The objectives of the NYP Education Fund are to:
(a) Provide financial assistance to needy and deserving students; 
(b) Recognise the achievements of outstanding Polytechnic students  
 and graduates; 
(c) Support student development and enrichment programmes; 
(d)  Support research and development programmes; 
(e)  Support staff and capability development programmes so as to keep  
 abreast of changing technologies in industry and commerce; 
(f ) Support NYP campus development programmes; 
(g) Provide education and training facilities and equipment; and 
(h) Promote NYP as an institution of distinction for polytechnic education  
 in Singapore.

FINANCIAL STATUS
The Fund stood at $32.47m as at 31 March 2020.

FUNDING SOURCES 
The Fund continually receives donations and generous support from individuals, organisations and foundations.

MAJOR GIFT DONORS 
($100,000 & ABOVE)

1. Estate of Dr Phay Seng Whatt
2. NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative Ltd

CORPORATE DONORS FOR OTHER SCHOLARSHIPS/BURSARIES/AWARDS
($10,000 & ABOVE)

1. GIC Pte Ltd

ACTIVITIES
A total of 2487 scholarships, bursaries, subsidies, graduation awards and overseas student development 
programmes support were awarded during the year, totalling $2.36m.

Two meetings were convened in FY2019, on 22 October 2019 and 25 February 2020, with full attendance 
from the Management Committee.

POLICIES
The Reserves Policy was established to safeguard the Fund’s stability and is pegged at not more than one 
year of disbursements. In the policy regarding the Conflict of Interest Disclosure, the approach is to avoid 
situations that may cause any potential conflict of interest. In general, all staff are required to declare any 
close relationships with students in any selection of student awards. Procurement practices also require 
staff to declare non-vested interest before selecting students or vendors. Full details of the Fund’s financial 
standing and policies can be found in the NYP Financial Report or on the NYP website.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Chairman Ms Jeanne Liew Principal & CEO, NYP

Deputy Chairman
Mr Musa Fazal Member, Board of Governors, NYP

Group Director, Planning Group, 
SkillsFuture Singapore

Treasurer Ms Su Kally Director, Finance, NYP

Members

Mr Chai Kuek Heng Director, Student Care & Guidance, NYP

Ms Sharon Lhu Deputy Director (Academic),
School of Business Management, NYP

Mr Thambyrajah T Registrar, NYP
(till 31 March 2020)

Ms Denise Leong Registrar-Designate, NYP
(from 16 March 2020 to 31 March 2020)

CORPORATE DONORS FOR NYP INDUSTRY SCHOLARSHIPS 

Donation from the Estate of Dr Phay Seng Whatt, 13 December 2019

1. 3M Asia Pacific Pte Ltd
2. Animagine Pte Ltd
3. Brother International Singapore Pte Ltd
4. Covance (Asia) Pte Ltd
5. Funded Pte Ltd
6. Intage Singapore Pte Ltd
7. K&H Aviation Pte Ltd

8. Mediacorp Pte Ltd
9. Mediacorp TV Singapore Pte Ltd
10. Mighty Jaxx International Pte Ltd
11. Nanyang Tech Pte Ltd
12. Offset Private Limited
13. SAS Institute Pte Ltd
14. State Street Bank and Trust Co.
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

31 MARCH 2020
Annual Financial Statements

Statement by board of governors

Contents Page

Statement by board of governors

Independent auditor’s report

Statements of financial position

Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Statements of changes in equity

Consolidated statement of cash flows

Notes to the financial statements

In our opinion,

(a) the accompanying financial statements set out on pages 38 to 81 of Nanyang Polytechnic (the “Polytechnic”) and its subsidiary  
 (collectively the “Group”) are drawn up so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and  
 Polytechnic as at 31 March 2020, and the financial performance and changes in equity of the Group and Polytechnic and cash  
 flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of  
 2018 (the “Public Sector (Governance) Act”), Nanyang Polytechnic Act, Chapter 191A (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act,  
 Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards;

(b) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Polytechnic during the year  
 are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable  
 to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic; and

(c) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Polytechnic and of the subsidiary  
 whether purchased, donated or otherwise.

On behalf of the board of governors:

Tan Tong Hai
Chairman

Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Nanyang Polytechnic (the “Polytechnic”) and its Subsidiary (the “Group”), which comprise 
the statements of financial position of the Group and the Polytechnic as at 31 March 2020, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and statements of changes in equity of the Group and the Polytechnic and consolidated statement of cash 
flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position, statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of change in equity of the Polytechnic are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018 (the “Public Sector (Governance) Act”), 
the Nanyang Polytechnic Act (the “Act”), the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”) and Statutory Board Financial 
Reporting Standards in Singapore (“SB-FRSs”) so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Group and the 
Polytechnic as at 31 March 2020 and of the financial performance and changes in equity of the Group and the Polytechnic and cash 
flows of the Group for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional 
Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the ACRA Code.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises statement by board of governors set out on 
page 33.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of management and Board of Governors for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act, the charities Act and SB-FRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A statutory board is constituted based on its Act and its dissolution requires Parliament’s approval. In preparing the financial 
statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is intention to wind up the Group or 
for the Group to cease operations.

The responsibilities of the Board of Governors include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and   
 perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a  
 basis for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from  
 error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the  
 circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures  
 made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit  
 evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the  
 Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention  
 in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our  
 opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events  
 or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic
For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020
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Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (cont’d)
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether  
 the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within  
 the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision  
 and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Governors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion
In our opinion:

(a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Polytechnic during the year  
 are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act, the Act and the  
 requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic; and

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Polytechnic and of the subsidiary  
 of which we are auditors whether purchased, donated or otherwise.

During the course of our audit in relation to the Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund (the “Fund”), nothing has come to our 
attention that causes us to believe that during the year:

(a) the use of donation moneys was not in accordance with the objectives of the Fund as required under regulation 11 of the  
 Charities (Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations; and

(b) the Fund has not complied with the requirements of regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities (Institutions of a  
 Public Character) Regulations.

There was no fund raising appeal conducted by the Fund during the year ended 31 March 2020.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ACRA 
Code together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on management’s compliance.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal 
of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act, the Act and the requirement of any other 
written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic. This responsibility includes implementing accounting and 
internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the provisions of the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial statements. We 
planned and performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment 
of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act, 
the Act and the requirement of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic. 

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, expenditure, investment 
of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements 
from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, non-compliances may nevertheless occur and 
not be detected.

Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Singapore

27 July 2020

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020
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Statements of financial position Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 March 2020 For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

*: Amount less than $1,000.

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

   Note 2020 2019 2020 2019
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital account 3 6,839 6,839 6,839 6,839
Accumulated surplus     
General Fund  370,717 343,519 367,504 339,832
Restricted Funds 4 143,031 142,039 138,041 135,218
     
Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund 4 30,123 29,224 30,123 29,224
   
Total capital and other funds  550,710 521,621 542,507 511,113
     
Represented by:     

Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 5 441,997 465,222 441,987 465,206
Subsidiary 6 – – * *
Investment securities 7 261,601 267,525 256,929 262,963
Deferred tax assets 8 – 808 – –
Loan to students 9 15 81 15 81
     
    703,613 733,636 698,931 728,250

Current assets     
Investment securities 7 8,755 – 8,755 –
Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments 9 15,894 15,901 14,345 13,827
Loan to students 9 69 101 69 101
Courses/projects-in-progress  22 16 22 16
Cash and cash equivalents 10 362,413 324,391 360,126 321,025
Grants due from government 11 16,668 17,390 16,593 17,390
     
    403,821 357,799 399,910 352,359
     
Current liabilities     
Sundry creditors and accruals 12 44,559 48,966 44,366 48,672
Income received in advance 19 3,640 4,181 3,518 4,157
Grants received in advance 13 26,691 26,979 26,616 26,979
Provision for taxation  – – – –
     
    74,890 80,126 74,500 79,808
     
Net current assets  328,931 277,673 325,410 272,551
     
     
Non-current liabilities     
Deferred capital grants 14 460,064 469,922 460,064 469,922
Income received in advance 19 21,770 19,766 21,770 19,766
     
    481,834 489,688 481,834 489,688
     
Net assets  550,710 521,621 542,507 511,113

Funds’ net assets managed on behalf of others 15 6,524 7,137 6,524 7,137

   Note 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group       
       
Income       
Student fees  55,026 54,134 – – 55,026 54,134
Income from projects/       
  courses/donations 4 – – 35,808 39,651 35,808 39,651
Other income 16 14,463 12,373 3,481 4,759 17,944 17,132
       
    69,489 66,507 39,289 44,410 108,778 110,917
       
Expenditure       
Salaries and allowances  210,285 224,137 14,844 16,044 225,129 240,181
Staff development and benefits  3,475 3,913 229 259 3,704 4,172
Teaching expenses  10,945 12,121 6,764 7,094 17,709 19,215
Repair, maintenance and utilities  17,897 18,581 2,232 2,082 20,129 20,663
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off  111 285 – 4 111 289
Depreciation of property, plant       
 and equipment 5 29,686 31,723 2,271 2,546 31,957 34,269
Other expenses  21,299 19,278 13,639 11,473 34,938 30,751
       
    293,698 310,038 39,979 39,502 333,677 349,540

(Deficit)/surplus before grants 17 (224,209) (243,531) (690) 4,908 (224,899) (238,623)
       
Grants       
Grants utilised 13/14 226,245 238,699 225 257 226,470 238,956
Deferred capital grants amortised 14 25,162 27,347 2,265 2,540 27,427 29,887
       
    251,407 266,046 2,490 2,797 253,897 268,843
       
Surplus after grants  27,198 22,515 1,800 7,705 28,998 30,220
       
Income taxes 18 – – (808) (91) (808) (91)
       
       
Surplus for the year, 
 representing total 
 comprehensive income 
 for the year  27,198 22,515 992 7,614 28,190 30,129

 Group Polytechnic  General Fund Restricted Funds Total
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Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income Statements of changes in equity

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

   Note 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Polytechnic       
       
Income       
Student fees  55,026 54,134 – – 55,026 54,134
Income from projects/
 courses/donations 4 – – 33,970 36,035 33,970 36,035
Other income 16 14,750 12,650 3,378 4,041 18,128 16,691

    69,776 66,784 37,348 40,076 107,124 106,860
       
Expenditure       
Salaries and allowances  210,232 223,937 12,600 13,363 222,832 237,300
Staff development and benefits  3,476 3,913 199 239 3,675 4,152
Teaching expenses  10,945 12,121 6,751 7,075 17,696 19,196
Repair, maintenance and utilities  17,762 18,296 2,201 2,022 19,963 20,318
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off  111 285 – 1 111 286
Depreciation of property, plant 
 and equipment 5 29,686 31,723 2,265 2,539 31,951 34,262
Other expenses  21,299 19,278 12,999 10,692 34,298 29,970
       
    293,511 309,553 37,015 35,931 330,526 345,484

(Deficit)/surplus before grants 17 (223,735) (242,769) 333 4,145 (223,402) (238,624)
       
Grants       
Grants utilised 13/14 226,245 238,699 225 257 226,470 238,956
Deferred capital grants amortised 14 25,162 27,347 2,265 2,540 27,427 29,887
       
    251,407 266,046 2,490 2,797 253,897 268,843
       
Surplus after grants for the 
 year, representing total 
 comprehensive income 
 for the year  27,672 23,277 2,823 6,942 30,495 30,219

      Nanyang
      Polytechnic
   Capital General Restricted Education
   account Fund Funds Fund Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group      
       
At 1 April 2018 6,839 321,004 134,425 28,036 490,304
       
Surplus for the year, representing total 
 comprehensive income for the year – 22,515 7,614 – 30,129
Donations and MOE matching grants 
 (Note 4c) – – – 1,188 1,188
       
 
At 31 March 2019 6,839 343,519 142,039 29,224 521,621
   
Surplus for the year, representing total 
 comprehensive income for the year – 27,198 992 – 28,190
Donations and MOE matching grants 
 (Note 4c) – – – 899 899
     
     
At 31 March 2020 6,839 370,717 143,031 30,123 550,710

Polytechnic      
       
At 1 April 2018 6,839 316,555 128,276 28,036 479,706
     
Surplus for the year, representing total 
 comprehensive income for the year – 23,277 6,942 – 30,219
Donations and MOE matching grants 
 (Note 4c) – – – 1,188 1,188

At 31 March 2019 6,839 339,832 135,218 29,224 511,113
     
Surplus for the year, representing total 
 comprehensive income for the year – 27,672 2,823 – 30,495
Donations and MOE matching grants 
 (Note 4c) – – – 899 899

At 31 March 2020 6,839 367,504 138,041 30,123 542,507

 General Fund Restricted Funds Total
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Consolidated statement of cash flows Notes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements. The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

   Note 2020 2019
    $’000 $’000
Operating activities 
Deficit before grants  (224,899) (238,623)
Adjustments for:   
 Interest income 16 (7,147) (6,225)
 Dividend income 16 (3,163) (1)
 Impairment loss on sundry receivables 9 – 44
 Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 16 (1,474) (3,197)
 Depreciation of property plant and equipment 5 31,957 34,269
 Property, plant and equipment written off 5 111 289

Deficit before working capital changes  (204,615) (213,444)
   
Changes in working capital:   
 Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments  527 (338)
 Loan to students  98 226
 Courses/project-in-progress  (6) 4
 Sundry creditors and accruals  (4,438) 3,417
 Income received in advance    1,463 (3,318)
   
Cash flows used in operating activities  (206,971) (213,453)

Investing activities   
Interest received  6,627 4,296
Dividends received  3,163 1
Proceed from redemption of capital guaranteed investment  – 63,460
Investment in capital guaranteed portfolio  – (45,000)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (8,812) (16,494)
Investment in corporate bonds  (1,357) (4,751)
   
Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities  (379) 1,512

Financing activities 
Operating grants received from government  231,572 234,485
Development grants refunded to government  (5,433) (5,433)
Other grants received  18,334 17,448
Donations and MOE matching grant for Nanyang    
  Polytechnic Education Fund  899 1,188
    
Cash flows generated from financing activities  245,372 247,688
   
   
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  38,022 35,747
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  324,391 288,644
   
   
Cash and cash equivalents 
 (including cash managed by Accountant-General’s Department) 
 at end of the year 10 362,413 324,391

These notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Governors on [Date]

1. Domicile and activities

 Nanyang Polytechnic (the “Polytechnic”) was established on 1 April 1992 under the Nanyang Polytechnic Act, Chapter 191A.  
 It is domiciled in Singapore and its campus is situated at 180 Ang Mo Kio Ave 8, Singapore 569830.

 The principal activities of the Polytechnic are those relating to the provision of quality education, training and research  
 in business management, chemical and life sciences, design, engineering, health and social sciences, information technology,  
 interactive and digital media The principal activities of the subsidiary are set out in Note 6.

 The Polytechnic also acts as the administrator or trustee for the Staff and Student Loans and Opportunity Fund for the  
 Ministry of Education and notebook loans for the Singapore Totalisator Board.

 The consolidated financial statements relate to the Polytechnic and its subsidiary (referred to as the “Group”).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
2.1 Basis of preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable requirements of the Nanyang Polytechnic  
 Act, Chapter 191A and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). SB-FRS include Statutory Board Financial  
 Reporting Standards, Interpretations of SB-FRS (“INT SB-FRS”) and SB-FRS Guidance Notes as promulgated by the Accountant  
 General.
 
 The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies  
 below.

 The financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the Polytechnic’s functional currency. All financial  
 information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between  
 market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using  
 another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the  
 characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability  
 at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements  
 is determined on such a basis, except measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. value  
 in use for impairment assessment purposes).
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Notes to the financial statementsNotes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.1 Basis of preparation (cont’d)
 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the  
 degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value  
 measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

 • Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access  
  at the measurement date;

 • Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,  
  either directly or indirectly; and

 • Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

2.2 New and revised standards
 Accounting standards effective on 1 April 2019
 On 1 April 2019, the Group adopted all the new and revised SB-FRSs and INT SB-FRSs that are effective from that date and  
 are relevant to its operations. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with  
 the transitional provisions in the respective SB-FRSs and INT SB-FRSs.
 
 The adoption of these new/revised SB-FRSs and INT SB-FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s accounting policies  
 except as disclosed below:

 SB-FRS 116 Leases
 SB-FRS 116 supersedes SB-FRS 17 Leases, INT SB-FRS 104 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, INT SB- 
 FRS Operating Leases-Incentives and INT SB-FRS 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a  
 Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and  
 requires lessees to recognise most leases on the statement of financial position.

 The Group adopted SB-FRS 116 using the modified retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial application of 1  
 April 2019. Under this method, the standard is applied retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying the  
 standard recognised at the date of initial application. The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient to not  
 reassess whether a contract is, or contains a lease at 1 April 2019. Instead, the Group applied the standard only to contracts  
 that were previously identified as leases applying SB-FRS 17 and INT SB-FRS 104 at the date of initial application.

 Upon adoption of SB-FRS 116, there is no significant impact to the Group’s financial position or financial performance.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.2 New and revised standards (cont’d)
 Standards issued but not yet effective
   Effective for annual periods 
 Description beginning on or after
 Amendments to SB-FRS 110 and SB-FRS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
  an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture To be determined
 Amendments to SB-FRS 109: Financial Instruments 1 January 2020
 Amendments to SB-FRS 107: Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2020

 The governors expect that the adoption of the other standards and interpretation above will have no material impact on the  
 financial statements in the period of initial application.

2.3 Significant accounting judgements and estimates
 The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions  
 that affect the reported amounts of the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities  
 at the end of reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could  
 require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. Management is  
 of the opinion that there is no significant judgement made in applying accounting policies and there is no estimation  
 uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  
 within the next financial period.

2.4 Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Polytechnic and entities controlled by the  
 Polytechnic (its subsidiary). Control is achieved where the Polytechnic:

 • Has power over the investee;
 • Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
 • Has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

 The Polytechnic reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to  
 one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

 Consolidation of subsidiary begins when the Polytechnic obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Polytechnic  
 loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are  
 included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the Polytechnic gains  
 control until the date when the Polytechnic ceases to control the subsidiary.

 Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiary to bring their accounting policies in line  
 with the Group’s accounting policies.

 In the Polytechnic’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment in net  
 recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statementsNotes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.5 Foreign currency transactions
 The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the Polytechnic. Transactions  
 in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the Polytechnic and its subsidiary at the exchange rate at  
 the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are  
 translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities  
 denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are translated into the functional currency at the exchange  
 rate at the date on which the fair value was determined.

 Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive  
 income.

2.6 General Fund
 Income and expenditure relating to the main activities of the Polytechnic are accounted for through the General Fund in the  
 statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income.

2.7 Restricted Funds
 Separate funds are set up to account for contributions received and expenditure incurred for specific purposes. Income  
 and expenditure relating to such funds are accounted for through the Restricted Funds in the statement of profit or loss and  
 comprehensive income. The assets and liabilities of these funds are accounted for separately. For presentation purpose, the  
 assets and liabilities of these funds are pooled together with those of the General Fund in the statements of financial  
 position.

2.8 Grants
 Government grants and contributions from other organisations are taken to the grants and income received in advance  
 accounts in the statements of financial position, respectively, upon initial recognition. Other grants include grants from  
 other Government Agencies.
 
 Subsequently, government grants and contributions from other organisations utilised for the purchase/ construction of  
 depreciable assets and the values of donated depreciable assets are taken to the deferred capital grants account in the  
 statements of financial position, or to the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income for assets which are written  
 off in the year of purchase or donation.

 The deferred capital grants are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income over the periods  
 necessary to match the depreciation and write-off of the property, plant and equipment purchased with the related grants.  
 Upon the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the balance of the related deferred capital grants is  
 recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income to match the net book value of the assets written  
 off.

 Government grants to meet the current year’s operating expenses are taken to the statement of profit or loss and other  
 comprehensive income for the year. Grants are accounted for on an accrual basis.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.9 Property, plant and equipment
 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items  
 (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

 The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item if it  
 is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Polytechnic and its cost can be  
 measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statement  
 of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as incurred.

 Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive  
 income on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives (or lease term, if shorter) of each part of an item of property,  
 plant and equipment.

 The estimated useful lives are as follows:
 Leasehold land Leasehold period of 99 years
 Leasehold improvements 5 years
 Buildings  50 years
 Plant and machinery  10 years
 Equipment  3 to 10 years
 Furniture and fittings  5 years

 Property, plant and equipment costing less than $2,000 each and renovations costing below $200,000 are charged to the  
 statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in the year of purchase.
 
 Construction-in-progress is stated at cost. No depreciation is charged on construction-in-progress. Upon completion of the  
 construction-in-progress, the amounts are transferred to the respective property, plant and equipment categories and  
 depreciated accordingly.

 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each reporting date.

2.10 Impairment – non-financial assets
 The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any  
 indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable amounts are estimated.
 
 An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable  
 amount. A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely are independent  
 from other assets and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive  
 income.
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.10 Impairment – non-financial assets (cont’d)
 The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to  
 sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount  
 rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-generating  
 unit.

 Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has  
 decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine  
 the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed  
 the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.  
 Reversal of impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. After such  
 a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any  
 residual value on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

2.11 Financial assets
 Initial recognition and measurement
 Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the  
 financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

 At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,  
 transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets  
 carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

 Trade receivables are measured at the amount of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for  
 transferring promised goods or services to a customer.

 Subsequent measurement
 The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

 (i) Debt instruments at amortised cost
  Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely  
  payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at amortised cost  
  using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gain and losses are recognised in statement of profit or loss and  
  other comprehensive income when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.11 Financial assets (cont’d)
 (ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss
  Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income are  
  measured at fair value through profit or loss. They include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated  
  upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are  
  acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets  
  at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of  
  the financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. For capital guaranteed investments, any deficiency in fair value  
  below principal amount is recognised to profit or loss to the extent of the guaranteed amount. 

 (iii) De-recognition 
  A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired. On  
  derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the  
  consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for  
  debt instruments is recognised in profit or loss.

  Offsetting arrangements
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position  
  when the Group and Polytechnic has a legal enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts; and intends to either  
  settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available  
  today rather than being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in the  
  normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are  
 readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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Notes to the financial statementsNotes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.13 Impairment of financial assets
 The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through  
 profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and  
 all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 

 ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since  
 initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next  
 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since  
 initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,  
 irrespective of timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

 For sundry receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does not track  
 changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group  
 considers factors such as historical credit loss experience and forward-looking factors specific to the debtors.

 All impairment losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

 Impairment losses in respect of financial assets measured at amortised cost is reversed if the subsequent increase in fair  
 value can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised. Any subsequent reversal of  
 an impairment loss is recognised in statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income, to the extent that the carrying  
 value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.14 Financial liabilities
 Initial recognition and measurement

 Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the  
 financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

 All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities not at fair value through  
 profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

 Subsequent measurement
 After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured  
 at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities  
 are derecognised, and through the amortisation process.

 De-recognition
 The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. On  
 de-recognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.15 Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is  
 probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation  
 can be estimated reliably.

 Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no  
 longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed.  
 If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where  
 appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of  
 time is recognised as a finance cost.

2.16 Employee benefits
 Defined contribution plans
 Contributions on the employees’ salaries are made to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) as required by law. The CPF  
 contributions are recognised as expenses in the period when the employees rendered their services. 

 Short-term benefits
 Short-term employee benefit obligations, including accumulated compensated absences, are measured on an undiscounted  
 basis and are recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as the related service is provided.

51
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

50



Notes to the financial statementsNotes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.17 Leases
 These accounting policies are applied on and after the initial application date of SB-FRS 116, 1 April 2019.

 The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys the right  
 to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

 Group as a lessee
 The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of  
 low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the  
 right to use the underlying assets. 

 (i) Rights-of-use assets
  The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is  
  available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,  
  and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease  
  liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less  
  any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease  
  term.

  If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a  
  purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

  The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section 2.10 Impairment of  
  non-financial assets.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.17 Leases (cont’d)

 Group as a lessee (cont’d)
 (ii) Lease liabilities
  At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of lease  
  payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed  
  payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts  
  expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also penalties for terminating the lease, if the  
  lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an  
  index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the  
  event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

  In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease  
  commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement  
  date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments  
  made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the  
  lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate  
  used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

 (iii) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
  The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (i.e.,  
  those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).  
  It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low  
  value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis  
  over the lease term.

 These accounting policies are applied before the initial application of SB-FRS 116, 1 April 2019.

 The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at  
 inception date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or the arrangement  
 conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an arrangement.

 As lessee
 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The  
 aggregate benefit of incentives provided by the lessor is recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on  
 a straight-line basis.
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.17 Leases
 As lessor
 Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset are classified  
 as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the  
 leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same bases as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as  
 revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.18 Revenue recognition
 Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring  
 promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

 Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the  
 customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance obligation may be satisfied at  
 a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance  
 obligation.

 Student fees
 Course fees for an academic year is recognised over the period of instruction in a financial year.

 Income from projects/courses
 Income from projects/courses is recognised as income over time, based on the progress of work performed. 

 Donations
 Donations are recognised when utilised. Donations that are not utilised will be presented as “income received in advance”  
 on the statement of financial position.

 Interest income
 Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate basis using the effective interest method.

 Rental income
 Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

 Dividend income
 Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is established.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.19 Income tax
 The Polytechnic enjoys automatic income tax exemption as it is a charitable institution.

 The subsidiary of the Polytechnic is subject to tax under Singapore income tax legislation.

 Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or  
 substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

 Deferred tax is recognised, providing for all temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases  
 of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that  
 are expected to be applied to the temporary differences when they reverse, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have  
 been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

 A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which 
 temporary differences can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of the reporting period and are reduced  
 to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or credit in profit or loss, except when they relate to items credited or  
 debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also  
 recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively).

2.20 Funds managed on behalf of others
 Funds are set up to account for contributions received from external sources for specific purposes.

 The net assets of the funds managed on behalf of others are disclosed as a separate item in the statement of financial position.  
 The income and expenditure relating to these funds are accounted for directly in the funds. Details of income, expenditure,  
 assets and liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

2.21 Contingencies
 A contingent liability is:

 (a) a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non- 
  occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group; or

 (b) a present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because:

  (i) It is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;  
   or 

  (ii) The amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

4. Accumulated surplus
 (b) The breakdown of the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of the individual funds under the Restricted Funds are  
  as follows:

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
2.21 Contingencies (cont’d)
 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the  
 occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Group. 

 Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except for contingent liabilities  
 assumed in a business combination that are present obligations and which the fair values can be reliably determined.

3. Capital account
 The capital account comprises net assets of $6,839,000 [General Fund: $6,068,000 (2019: $6,068,000); Restricted Funds:  
 $771,000 (2019: $771,000) relating to the French-Singapore Institute, German-Singapore Institute and Japan-Singapore  
 Institute which were transferred from the Economic Development Board to Nanyang Polytechnic on 1 February 1993.

4. Accumulated surplus
 Restricted Funds
 (a) Restricted Funds of the Group and of the Polytechnic comprise the following:

  Name of fund Purpose 
  Project and Professional  To fund research and development projects, conduct professional development  
   courses Development Courses Fund and fund programmes which support the  
   mission, goals and objectives of the Polytechnic.
 
  Sinking Fund To fund the maintenance of the Polytechnic’s apartments from rental proceeds.
 
  Nanyang Polytechnic To provide financial assistance to needy and deserving students, recognise the
  Education Fund achievements of outstanding students and graduates and to promote Nanyang 
   Polytechnic as an institution of distinction.  
 
  Student Welfare/ To fund student welfare and development activities.
  Development Fund

   Project and  Nanyang Student
   Professional  Polytechnic Welfare/
   Development  Education Development
   Courses Fund Sinking Fund Fund Fund Total
   2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group           
  
Income        
Income from projects
 /courses/donations 32,715 35,787 871 1,243 1,624 2,011 598 610 35,808 39,651
Other income 2,048 3,206 202 328 1,206 1,136 25 89 3,481 4,759
        
   34,763 38,993 1,073 1,571 2,830 3,147 623 699 39,289 44,410

Expenditure          
Salaries and allowances 14,844 16,044 – – – – – – 14,844 16,044
Staff development 
 and benefits 229 259 – – – – – – 229 259
Teaching expenses 6,764 7,094 – – – – – – 6,764 7,094
Repairs, maintenance 
 and utilities 519 430 1,713 1,652 – – – – 2,232 2,082
Property, plant and 
 equipment written off – 4 – – – – – – – 4
Depreciation of property, 
 plant and equipment 2,270 2,546 1 – – – – – 2,271 2,546
Other expenses 10,731 8,207 – 2 2,511 2,848 397 416 13,639 11,473
          
   35,357 34,584 1,714 1,654 2,511 2,848 397 416 39,979 39,502

(Deficit)/surplus before grants (594) 4,409 (641) (83) 319 299 226 283 (690) 4,908 
Grants utilised 225 257 – – – – – – 225 257
Deferred capital grants 
 amortised 2,265 2,540 – – – – – – 2,265 2,540
          
          
Surplus/(deficit) after grants 1,896 7,206 (641) (83) 319 299 226 283 1,800 7,705
Income taxes (808) (91) – – – – – – (808) (91)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year, 
 representing total 
 comprehensive income for 
 the year 1,088 7,115 (641) (83) 319 299 226 283 992 7,614
Accumulated surplus 
 at 1 April 124,520 117,405 15,389 15,472 (247) (546) 2,377 2,094 142,039 134,425
          
Accumulated surplus 
 at 31 March 125,608 124,520 14,748 15,389 72 (247) 2,603 2,377 143,031 142,039
Capital account 771 771 – – – – – – 771 771
          
          
   126,379 125,291 14,748 15,389 72 (247) 2,603 2,377 143,802 142,810

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020
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For the financial year ended 31 March 2020For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

4. Accumulated surplus (cont’d) 4. Accumulated surplus (cont’d)

   Project and  Nanyang Student
   Professional  Polytechnic Welfare/
   Development  Education Development
   Courses Fund Sinking Fund Fund Fund Total
   2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group           
  
Represented by:        
Property, plant and equipment 3,043 3,770 2 3 – – – – 3,045 3,773
Investment securities  85,262 86,926 17,562 17,820 – – – – 102,824 104,746
Deferred tax assets – 808 – – – – – – - 808
Sundry receivables, deposits 
 and prepayments 6,358 5,877 155 189 411 351 12 12 6,936 6,429
Courses/projects-in-progress 22 16 – – – – – – 22 16
Cash and cash equivalents 46,807 41,040 (2,772) (2,437) 7,959 5,554 2,607 2,500 54,601 46,657
Grants due from government 11,463 7,824 – – – – – – 11,463 7,824
Sundry creditors and accruals (1,314) (1,588) (197) (183) (38) (135) (16) (135) (1,565) (2,041)
Income received in advance 
 (current liabilities) (793) (595) – – (1,607) (2,005) – – (2,400) (2,600)
Income received in advance 
 (non-current liabilities) – – – – (6,653) (4,012) – – (6,653) (4,012)
Grants received in advance (21,304) (14,836) – – – – – – (21,304) (14,836)
Deferred capital grants 
 (non-government) (3,165) (3,951) (2) (3) – – – – (3,167) (3,954)
          
   126,379  125,291 14,748 15,389 72 (247) 2,603 2,377 143,802 142,810

Polytechnic

Income        
Income from projects
 /courses/donations 29,911 31,141 1,837 2,273 1,624 2,011 598 610 33,970 36,035
Other income 1,944 2,488 202 328 1,206 1,136 26 89 3,378 4,041
          
   31,855 33,629 2,039 2,601 2,830 3,147 624 699 37,348 40,076

Expenditure        
Salaries and allowances 12,600 13,363 – – – – – – 12,600 13,363
Staff development and benefits 199 239 – – – – – – 199 239
Teaching expenses 6,751 7,075 – – – – – – 6,751 7,075
Repairs, maintenance 
 and utilities 487 371 1,714 1,651 – – – – 2,201 2,022
Property, plant and equipment 
 written off – 1 – – – – – – – 1
Depreciation of property, 
 plant and equipment 2,264 2,539 1 – – – – – 2,265 2,539
Other expenses 10,090 7,426 – 2 2,512 2,848 397 416 12,999 10,692
          
   32,391 31,014 1,715 1,653 2,512 2,848 397 416 37,015 35,931

   Project and  Nanyang Student
   Professional  Polytechnic Welfare/
   Development  Education Development
   Courses Fund Sinking Fund Fund Fund Total
   2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Polytechnic

(Deficit)/surplus before grants (536) 2,615 324 948 318 299 227 283 333 4,145
Grants utilised 225 257 – – – – – – 225 257
Deferred capital grants 
 amortised 2,264 2,540 1 – – – – – 2,265 2,540
          
Surplus for the year, 
 representing total 
 comprehensive income 
 for the year 1,953 5,412 325 948 318 299 227 283 2,823 6,942
Accumulated surplus 
 at 1 April 108,269 102,857 22,540 21,592 2,032 1,733 2,377 2,094 135,218 128,276
          
Accumulated surplus 
 at 31 March 110,222 108,269 22,865 22,540 2,350 2,032 2,604 2,377 138,041 135,218
Capital account 771 771 – – – – – – 771 771
          
   110,993 109,040 22,865 22,540 2,350 2,032 2,604 2,377 138,812 135,989

Represented by:          
Property, plant and equipment 3,032 3,754 2 3 – – – – 3,034 3,757
Subsidiary * * – – – – – – * *
Investment securities  80,590 82,364 17,562 17,820 – – – – 98,152 100,184
Sundry receivables, deposits 
 and prepayments 4,748 3,714 187 189 410 351 12 12 5,357 4,266
Courses/projects-in-progress 22 16 – – – – – – 22 16
Cash and cash equivalents 37,345 31,939 5,355 4,784 10,238 7,833 2,607 2,500 55,545 47,056
Grants due from government 11,388 7,824 – – – – – – 11,388 7,824
Sundry creditors and accruals (1,066) (1,212) (239) (253) (38) (135) (15) (135) (1,358) (1,735)
Income received in advance           
   (current liabilities) (672) (572) – – (1,607) (2,005) – – (2,279) (2,577)
Income received in advance           
   (non-current liabilities) – – – – (6,653) (4,012) – – (6,653) (4,012)
Grants received in advance (21,229) (14,836) – – – – – – (21,229) (14,836)
Deferred capital grants 
 (non-government) (3,165) (3,951) (2) (3) – – – – (3,167) (3,954)
          
   110,993 109,040 22,865 22,540 2,350 2,032 2,604 2,377 138,812 135,989

*:  Amount less than $1,000 
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5. Property, plant and equipment

   Leasehold Leasehold  Plant and   Furniture and
   Land improvements Buildings machinery Equipment fittings Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Group        
     
Cost:       
 At 1 April 2018 145,820 12,748 465,130 198,165 210,975 23,574 1,056,412
 Additions  – 373 – 2,906 12,974 420 16,673
 Written off – (440) (364) (98) (5,873) (143) (6,918)
       
 At 31 March 2019 145,820 12,681 464,766 200,973 218,076 23,851 1,066,167
 Additions  – – – 1,961 6,703 179 8,843
 Reclassifications – – (78) – 78 – –
 Written off – (1,201) (169) (4,150) (11,474) (119) (17,113)
       
 At 31 March 2020 145,820 11,480 464,519 198,784 213,383 23,911 1,057,897
       
Accumulated 
 depreciation:       
 At 1 March 2018 34,737 10,777 158,140 164,917 183,613 21,121 573,305
 Depreciation for the year 1,473 972 9,536 5,291 15,931 1,066 34,269
 Written off – (437) (139) (98) (5,812) (143) (6,629)
       
 At 31 March 2019 36,210 11,312 167,537 170,110 193,732 22,044 600,945
 Depreciation for the year 1,473 621 9,516 5,526 13,860 961 31,957
 Written off – (1,201) (70) (4,150) (11,463) (118) (17,002) 
       
 At 31 March 2020 37,683 10,732 176,983 171,486 196,129 22,887 615,900
       
Carrying amount:       
 At 31 March 2020 108,137 748 287,536 27,298 17,254 1,024 441,997
       
 At 31 March 2019 109,610 1,369 297,229 30,863 24,344 1,807 465,222

Notes to the financial statements Notes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

4. Accumulated surplus (cont’d)

 (c) Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund
  Donations and contributions made to the Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund for endowment purpose are retained  
  as principal capital to be kept intact to earn income. Income and expenditure of the Nanyang Polytechnic Education  
  Fund are taken to “Restricted Funds” in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income [Note 4(b)].

  The principal capital comprises the following:
 Group and Polytechnic
 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000

  At 1 April  29,224 28,036
  
  Donations  179 218
  MOE matching grant 720 970
   899 1,188
  
  At 31 March  30,123 29,224
  
  Represented by:  
  Fixed deposits  819 1,457
  Corporate bonds  28,904 27,547
  Cash at bank  300 56
  Other receivables  100 164 
  
  At 31 March  30,123 29,224

  
  The use of donation moneys is in accordance with the objectives of the Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund. There  
  are no fund raising activities during the financial year. The income earned solely relates to interest income derived  
  from the fixed deposits, corporate bonds and donations received. Other receivables of $99,500 (2019: $163,600) is a  
  matching endowment fund donation grant receivable from the Ministry of Education.

  The total amount of tax deductible donations received for the calendar year 2020 is $317,200 (calendar year 2019:  
  $472,400).
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5. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)
 During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment of $8,843,000 (2019: $16,673,000). The additions were by  
 way of cash payments of $8,748,000 (2019: $16,247,000), donated assets of $Nil (2019: $362,000) and amount payable to  
 suppliers of $95,000 (2019: $64,000).
 
 Cash outflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year also includes payments for property, plant and  
 equipment acquired in the previous year of $64,000 (2019: $247,000).

6. Subsidiary
 Polytechnic
 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000
 Unquoted ordinary shares, at cost * *

 Details of the subsidiary is as follows:

    Proportion of
 Name of  Country of ownership interest Cost of
 subsidiary Principal activities incorporation and voting power held investment
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 % % $’000 $’000

5. Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

   Leasehold Leasehold  Plant and   Furniture and
   Land improvements Buildings machinery Equipment fittings Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
Polytechnic        
     
Cost:       
 At 1 April 2018 145,820 12,738 465,130 198,165 210,961 23,544 1,056,358
 Additions  – 373 – 2,906 12,964 417 16,660
 Written off – (430) (364) (98) (5,867) (143) (6,902)
       
 At 31 March 2019 145,820 12,681 464,766 200,973 218,058 23,818 1,066,116
 Additions  – – – 1,961 6,703 179 8,843
 Reclassifications – – (78) – 78 – –
 Written off – (1,201) (169) (4,150) (11,471) (119) (17,110)
       
 At 31 March 2020 145,820 11,480 464,519 198,784 213,368 23,878 1,057,849
       
Accumulated 
 depreciation:       
 At 1 April 2018 34,737 10,771 158,140 164,917 183,599 21,100 573,264
 Depreciation for the year 1,473 971 9,536 5,291 15,929 1,062 34,262
  Written off – (430) (139) (98) (5,806) (143) (6,616)
       
 At 31 March 2019  36,210 11,312 167,537 170,110 193,722 22,019 600,910
 Depreciation for the year 1,473 621 9,516 5,526 13,858 957 31,951
 Written off – (1,201) (70) (4,150) (11,460) (118) (16,999)
       
 At 31 March 2020 37,683 10,732 176,983 171,486 196,120 22,858 615,862
       
Carrying amount:       
 At 31 March 2020 108,137 748 287,536 27,298 17,248 1,020 441,987
       
 At 31 March 2019 109,610 1,369 297,229 30,863 24,336 1,799 465,206
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7. Investment securities

 Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000
 Non-current assets    
 Unit trusts managed by fund managers  195,225 194,554 190,553 189,992
 Capital guaranteed investment portfolio     
    managed by fund manager 46,227 45,424 46,227 45,424
    
 Corporate bonds 20,149 27,547 20,149 27,547
    
   261,601 267,525 256,929 262,963
    
 Current assets    
 Corporate bonds 8,755 – 8,755 – 
    
 Total 270,356 267,525 265,684 262,963

 The capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager comprises the following:

  Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 Interest bearing securities    42,224 32,566
 Unit trusts    2,332 6,539
 Forward currency contracts   39 5
 Cash and cash equivalents   1,632 6,314
 
     46,227 45,424

 Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager
 The capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager is classified as financial assets at fair value through  
 profit or loss. However, any deficiency in fair value of the portfolio below principal amount is recognised to the extent of  
 the guaranteed amount of $45,000,000 (2019: $45,000,000). The fund management agreement is for a period of 4 years from  
 November 2018 to November 2022.

 Corporate bonds
 The corporate bonds bear interest rates of 3.035% to 4.75% (2019: 3.035% to 4.75%) per annum and will mature or be  
 callable by the bond issuers, whichever is earlier, in less than 1 year to 6 years (2019: 1 to 6 years). Interest is receivable on a  
 semi-annual basis.

7. Investment securities (cont’d)
 Unit trusts managed by fund managers
 Investments managed by fund managers form part of the Polytechnic funds which are administered by 2 external asset  
 management financial institutions (fund managers). The fund managers are given discretionary powers within certain  
 guidelines to invest the funds. The unit trusts are approved investments in the Demand Aggregation for fund management  
 services by the Accountant-General’s Department. The unit trusts comprise the following:

 Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000

 Interest bearing securities 135,875 137,941 132,628 134,565
 Equities 26,985 40,448 26,328 39,555
 Cash and cash equivalents 32,365 16,165 31,597 15,872
    
   195,225 194,554 190,553 189,992

 The categories of these investment securities and their carrying amounts are as follows:

 Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000  $’000  $’000
 Financial assets managed by fund managers at 
  fair value through profit or loss:     
    
 Unit trusts 195,225 194,554 190,553 189,992
 Capital guaranteed investment portfolio 46,227 45,424 46,227 45,424
    
   241,452 239,978 236,780 235,416
    
 Financial assets at amortised cost:     
 Corporate bonds 28,904 27,547 28,904 27,547
    
   270,356 267,525 265,684 262,963
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8. Deferred tax assets
 Group

 The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) are as follows:

  Property, plant Tax
 Provisions and equipment losses Total
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 At 1 April 2018 16 (2) 889 903
 Recognised in profit or loss (Note 18) – – (95) (95)
    
 At 31 March 2019 16 (2) 794 808
 Recognised in profit or loss (Note 18)  (16) 2 (794) (808)
    
 At 31 March 2020 – – – –

9. Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments

 Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000
 Financial assets    
 Current:    
 Sundry receivables 5,683 6,349 4,144 4,385
 Tuition fees 682 683 682 683
 Deposits 736 776 730 767
 Interest receivable 4,121 3,601 4,121 3,601
 Amount due from subsidiary – – 63 90
 Loan to students 69 101 69 101
    
   11,291 11,510 9,809 9,627
    
 Non-current:    
 Loan to students 15 81 15 81
    
 Total financial assets 11,306 11,591 9,824 9,708
    
 Non-financial assets    
 Prepayments 3,672 3,225 3,670 3,225
 Goods and services tax receivable 1,000 1,267 935 1,076
    
 Total non-financial assets 4,672 4,492 4,605 4,301
    
   15,978 16,083 14,429 14,009
 Less: Loan to students (84) (182) (84) (182)
    
 Total sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments 15,894 15,901 14,345 13,827

9. Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments (cont’d)

 Sundry receivables and the amount due from subsidiary are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ terms.  
 They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

 Loan to students are notebook loans that are interest-free. Loans are repayable in monthly instalments commencing 6  
 months after graduation or on the graduate securing employment, whichever is earlier. For male borrowers with national  
 service obligations, the loans are repayable on the first day of the third month immediately following Operationally Ready  
 Date (ORD).

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired
 The Group has sundry receivables amounting to $1,839,000 (2019: $2,094,000) that are past due at the end of the reporting  
 period but not impaired as management has assessed that there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the  
 amounts are still considered recoverable.

 These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their aging at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

 Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000
 Sundry receivables past due:    
 Less than 30 days 273 389 273 389
 30 to 60 days 604 933 604 933
 61 to 90 days 188 88 188 88
 More than 90 days 774 684 774 684
    
   1,839 2,094 1,839 2,094

 The movements in allowance for expected credit losses allowance of sundry receivables are as follows:

  Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 At 1 April   44 –
 Loss allowance   – 44
 Written-off   (40) –
    
 At 31 March   4 44
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9. Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments (cont’d)

 Receivables that are past due but not impaired (cont’d)

 As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and Polytechnic’s financial assets at amortised cost include the following 
 financial assets:

 Note Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Corporate bonds 7 28,904 27,547 28,904 27,547
 Sundry receivables and deposits 9 11,222 11,409 9,740 9,526
 Loan to students 9 84 182 84 182
 Cash and cash equivalents 10 362,413 324,391 360,126 321,025
 Grants due from government 11 16,668 17,390 16,593 17,390
     
    419,291 380,919 415,447 375,670

10. Cash and cash equivalents

  Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Cash at bank and in hand  8,917 12,334 6,631 8,968
    
 Cash managed by the Accountant-General’s Department 353,496 312,057 353,495 312,057
    
 Cash and cash equivalents  362,413 324,391 360,126 321,025

 
 The Polytechnic manages a total of 1 (2019: 1) bank account on behalf of Nanyang Polytechnic Student’s Union and its  
 Constituent Clubs. As at end of the reporting period, cash at bank of $801,000 (2019: $660,000) has not been included in the  
 cash and cash equivalents of the Group and Polytechnic.

11. Grants due from government

 Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Operating grants 5,676 9,738 5,676 9,738
 Grants for research projects/centre 4,576 4,782 4,576 4,782
 Programme and centre 6,241 2,706 6,241 2,706
 Others  175 164 100 164
    
   16,668 17,390 16,593 17,390

12. Sundry creditors and accruals

 Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
 Financial liabilities    
 Sundry creditors 5,394 5,913 5,384 5,788
 Deposits 5,097 8,132 5,063 8,097
 Accrual for purchase of property, plant and equipment 95 64 95 64
 Accruals 23,497 24,977 23,387 24,857
 Amount due to subsidiary – – 54 83
    
 Total financial liabilities at amortised cost 34,083 39,086 33,983 38,889
    
 Non-financial liabilities    
 Short-term accumulated compensated absences 10,476 9,880 10,383 9,783
    
 Total non-financial liabilities 10,476 9,880 10,383 9,783
    
 Sundry creditors and accruals  44,559 48,966 44,366 48,672

 The amount due to subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and expected to be settled in cash.
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13. Grants received in advance

  Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 At 1 April  26,979 32,064 26,979 32,064
 Grants received/receivable/(refunded) during the year:    
 Government operating grants  205,166 220,015 205,166 220,015
 Government development grants  (5,433) (5,433) (5,433) (5,433)
 Course fees, research and other grants  37,669 32,859 37,594 32,859
    
    264,381 279,505 264,306 279,505
   
 Transfer to deferred capital grants:   
 Other grants  (1,593) (665) (1,593) (665)
    
   
 Amount taken to statement of profit or loss and 
  other comprehensive income:  
 Government operating grants  (206,418) (220,051) (206,418) (220,051)
 Other grants  (13,681) (14,096) (13,681) (14,096)
    
 Government operating and other grants utilised  (220,099) (234,147) (220,099) (234,147)
    
 Course fees and research grants  (15,998) (17,714) (15,998) (17,714)
    
 At 31 March  26,691 26,979 26,616 26,979

 During the financial year, the Group and Polytechnic received a grant of $18,922,000 (2019: $18,936,000) from the Ministry of  
 Education to settle the outstanding goods and services tax payable to the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and  
 $4,482,000 (2019: $4,491,000) of bursary for disbursement to the students during the year. The SkillsFuture Singapore/Ministry  
 of Education provided $142,000 (2019: $1,000) for Continuing Education Training Qualifications Award. These amounts are  
 not included in the operating grants received from the government.

14. Deferred capital grants

   Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 At 1 April    469,922 480,790
 Grant recognised as deferred income:   
 Government IT and F&E grants received    22,344 22,795
 Other grants    3 368
   
      492,269 503,953
   
 Transfer from grants received in advance:   
 Other grants    1,593 665
   
 Grants taken to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:   
 Government IT and F&E grants    (6,314) (4,809)
 Other grants    (57) –
   
 Government IT, F&E and other grants utilised    (6,371) (4,809)
   
 Deferred capital grant amortisation-government    (24,960) (27,193)
 Deferred capital grant amortisation-Other grants    (2,467) (2,694)
   
      (33,798) (34,696)
   
 At 31 March    460,064 469,922
   
 Represented by:   
 Grants utilised     381,499 402,066
 Grants not utilised    78,565 67,856
   
 At 31 March    460,064 469,922

15. Funds managed on behalf of others

   Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 (i) Funds managed on behalf of Ministry of Education   6,524 7,133
 (ii) Funds managed on behalf of Singapore Totalisator Board   – 4
   
      6,524 7,137

 The Polytechnic acts as an agent for the Ministry of Education to disburse student loans. The Polytechnic also administers the  
 Opportunity Fund on behalf of the Ministry of Education and disburses notebook loans from the Singapore Totalisator Board.

Notes to the financial statements Notes to the financial statements

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

For the financial year ended 31 March 2020 For the financial year ended 31 March 2020

71
ANNUAL REPORT 2019/2020

70



15. Funds managed on behalf of others (cont’d)

 Loans given to students are interest-free until 1 June for borrowers who graduate in the first half of the year or 1 December for  
 borrowers who graduate in the second half of the year. For those with National Service obligation, interest charge will  
 commence from the first day of the month immediately following the month they complete their National Service. Loans  
 are repayable by monthly instalments with interest at 4.75% (2019: 4.75%) per annum which is based on the average prime  
 rates of banks or such other rates as may be determined by the Polytechnic from time to time.

 The Opportunity Fund is provided to level up enrichment opportunities for Singapore Citizen students from lower income  
 households. This includes assistance for overseas trips, local and overseas enrichment programmes and purchase of  
 computer devices.

   Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000
 (i) Funds managed on behalf of Ministry of Education  
  At 1 April    7,133 8,177
  Amount received during the year    1,319 2,127
  Amount utilised during the year    (1,889) (2,153)
  Amount refunded during the year    (5) (996)
  Amount written off during the year    (34) (22)
   
  At 31 March    6,524 7,133
   
  Represented by:  
  Student loans    5,511 6,023
  Sundry debtors    219 255
  Sundry creditors    (137) (134)
  Cash and cash equivalents    931 989
   
  Net assets    6,524 7,133

 The cash and cash equivalents of $931,000 (2019: $989,000) are held on behalf of the Ministry for the purpose of extending  
 student loans and to level up enrichment opportunities for Singapore Citizen students from lower income household.

15. Funds managed on behalf of others (cont’d)

 (ii) Funds managed on behalf of Singapore Totalisator Board
  Notebook loans from Singapore Totalisator Board given to students are interest-free. Loans are repayable in monthly  
  instalments commencing 6 months after graduation or on the graduate securing employment, whichever is earlier. For  
  male borrowers with national service obligations, the loans are repayable on the first day of the third month immediately  
  following Operationally Ready Date (ORD).

   Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

  At 1 April    4 1,248
  Amount refunded during the year    (4) (1,231)
  Amount written off during the year    – (13)
 
  At 31 March    – 4
  
  Represented by:  
  Notebook computer loans    – 4
  
  Net assets    – 4

16. Other income

 The following items have been included in arriving at other income:

  Group  Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Foreign exchange loss  (82) (82) (81) (79)
 Dividend income  3,163 1 3,702 630
 Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair 
  value through profit or loss  1,474 3,197 1,364 3,129
 Interest income  7,147 6,225 7,146 6,224

 Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss refers to the difference between the fair value of  
 the financial assets and their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2020 and 2019.
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17. (Deficit)/surplus before grants

 The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at (deficit)/surplus before grants:

  Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Impairment loss on sundry receivables  – 44 – 44
 Contribution to Central Provident Fund, 
  included in salaries and allowances  24,769 26,079 24,574 25,853
 Rental related income (Apartments)  (871) (1,243) (1,837) (2,273)

18. Income taxes

   Group 
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000
 Income tax  
 - Over provision in prior years    – 4
   
      – 4
  
 Deferred tax
 - Origination and reversal or temporary differences   – (95)
 - Reversal of provision in prior years (Note 8)     (808) –
  
 Income tax expense    (808) (91)

 The reconciliation of the tax expense and surplus after grants multiplied by the applicable tax rate is as follows:

   Group 
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 Surplus after grants    28,998 30,220
  
 Tax at the applicable tax rate of 17% (2019: 17%)    (4,930) (5,137)
 Effect of surplus exempt from taxation    5,112 5,042
 Deferred tax assets not recognised    (182) –
 Over provision of tax in prior years    – 4
 Reversal of deferred tax assets previously recognised in prior years   (808) –
 
 Income tax expense    (808) (91)

 At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary has tax losses of approximately S$5,739,000 (2019: S$4,671,000)  
 that are available for offset against future taxable profit of the Group’s subsidiary. During the current financial year, the  
 subsidiary reversed the deferred tax assets amounting to $808,000 due to uncertainty of its recoverability.

19. Income received in advance

  Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Income received in advance  25,410 23,947 25,288 23,923
    
 Represented by:    

 Current    
  Student/Project fees  1,396 1,540 1,274 1,516
  Donations  1,607 2,004 1,607 2,004
  Service fees  637 637 637 637
   
    3,640 4,181 3,518 4,157
    
 Non-current    
  Donations   6,653 4,012 6,653 4,012
   Service fees  15,117 15,754 15,117 15,754
    
    21,770 19,766 21,770 19,766
    
    25,410 23,947 25,288 23,923

 Revenue recognised that was included in fees received in advance balance as at the beginning of the year in Group and  
 Polytechnic are $2,516,000 and $2,491,000 respectively (2019: $5,335,000 and $5,328,000).

 The student/project fees received in advance are mainly student fees received in advance for the new financial year and  
 income from projects and courses for course durations starting from April 2020.

 Donations are mainly scholarship and bursary awards received in advance and will be disbursed to the student recipients in  
 the new academic year starting from April 2020 (2019: April 2019) and beyond.

 The Polytechnic received fees in advance from Singapore Institute of Technology (“SIT”) for the usage of the Polytechnic’s  
 facilities by SIT students. The fees received in advance will only be recognised as revenue when services are rendered by the  
 Polytechnic in accordance to the service fee agreement between the Polytechnic and SIT.
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20. Capital commitments

 The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at (deficit)/surplus before grants:

   Group and Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000

 Capital commitments approved by the Board and contracted but not provided for 2,593 4,109

 The capital commitments are funded from government grants and general fund.

21. Key management personnel compensation

 Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing  
 and controlling the activities of the Group. The Principal/Chief Executive Officer (Polytechnic), Chief Executive Officer  
 (subsidiary), Deputy Principals, Senior Directors and Directors are considered as key management personnel of the Group.

 The key management personnel compensation is as follows:

  Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000

 Short-term employee benefits  9,762 10,349 8,774 9,332
 CPF contributions  601 397 543 543 
    
    10,363 10,746 9,317 9,875

22. Financial instruments

 (a) Financial risk management policies and objectives
  Risk management is integral to the whole activities of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place to create  
  an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The Group continually  
  monitors its risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control is achieved. 

  (i) Credit risk
   Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a party to settle its financial and contractual  
   obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.  

22. Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (a) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
  (i) Credit risk (cont’d)
   At reporting date, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, except for grants due from government  
   and investment in bonds.

   Credit risk on grants due from government is low as claims made are within funding guidelines and it is unlikely  
   that the Government will default on payment. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with banks and financial  
   institutions which are regulated. The cash managed by Accountant-General’s Department under Centralised  
   Liquidity Management (“CLM”) are placed with high credit quality financial institutions and are available upon  
   request.

   The following are qualitative information about the Group’s expected credit loss model for significant class of  
   financial assets.

 The Group has measured the impairment loss allowance and determined that the ECL is insignificant. 

 The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the  
  statements of financial position. Further details of receivables are disclosed in Note 9.
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22. Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (b) Fair value of financial assets 
  The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy as disclosed in note 2.1

  (i) Financial instruments that are carried at fair value
   The following table shows an analysis of investment securities carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

 Group Significant observable inputs
  other than quoted prices
  (Level 2)
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000
 Investment securities (Note 7):  
 Unit trusts managed by fund managers    195,225 194,554
 Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager  46,227 45,424
  
      241,452 239,978

 Polytechnic Significant observable inputs
  other than quoted prices
  (Level 2)
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000
 Investment securities (Note 7):  
 Unit trusts managed by fund managers    190,553 189,992
 Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager  46,227 45,424
 
      236,780 235,416

22. Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (a) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
  (ii) Interest rate risk
   Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will fluctuate  
   because of changes in market interest rates. 

   Interest rate sensitivity
   The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for significant non- 
   derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning 
    of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of instruments that have  
   floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the reasonably  
   possible change in interest rates.

   At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rate had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points) higher/ 
   lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s surplus for the year would have increased/decreased by  
   $1,767,000 (2019: $1,560,000).

  (iii) Foreign currency risk
   Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange  
   rates.

   The Polytechnic is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as its transactions, financial assets and liabilities  
   are mainly denominated in Singapore dollars.

  (iv) Market price risk
   The Group is exposed to market price risk arising from its investment securities, which are classified as financial  
   assets at fair value through profit or loss. Certain investments are capital guaranteed, subject to conditions.

   At the end of the reporting period, if the fair value of the investment securities had been 10% (2019: 10%)  
   higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s surplus for the year would have increased/ 
   decreased by $24,145,000/$20,749,000 (2019: $23,998,000/$19,880,000).
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23. Capital management

 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it has adequate financial resources to fund its  
 operations. The Group obtains government grants through the Ministry of Education and other government agencies to  
 fund its operational and capital requirements. Expenditures are monitored through a budgetary control process. It also  
 undertakes industrial projects. The Group manages its capital base in consideration of current economic conditions and its  
 plan for the year in concern. The Group is not exposed to any external capital requirements.

 The Group monitors capital using net assets value, which is made up of capital, accumulated surplus, and the Nanyang  
 Polytechnic Education Fund. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2019.  The net assets value at 31 March  
 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

  Group Polytechnic
 2020 2019 2020 2019
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000 

 Net assets   550,710 521,621 542,507 511,113

24. Related party transactions

 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined  
 between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on  
 demand unless otherwise stated.

 During the financial year, other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following were the related party  
 transactions based on terms agreed between the parties:

   Polytechnic
   2020 2019
   $’000  $’000 
 Between the Polytechnic and its subsidiary  
 Apartment rental, furnishing and cleaning income   (967) (1,031)
 Programme and facilities income     (188) (486)
 Service fee income     (120) (113)
 Facilities rental income    (167) (164)
 Dividend received from subsidiary    (539) (629)

22. Financial instruments (cont’d)

 (b) Fair value of financial assets (cont’d) 
  (i) Financial instruments that are carried at fair value (cont’d)

   The fair value of the unit trusts and capital guaranteed investment portfolio is determined by the Polytechnic’s  
   fund managers based on observable market prices of the securities in the portfolio and other inputs at the end of  
   the reporting period.

  (ii) Financial instruments not carried at fair values for which fair value is disclosed

   The aggregate net fair values of recognised financial assets which are not carried at fair value in the statement of  
   financial position as at 31 March are represented in the following table:

  Group and Polytechnic
  2020 2019
 Carrying  Carrying 
 amount Fair value amount Fair value
 $’000  $’000 $’000  $’000
 Financial assets    
 Corporate bonds (Note 7)  28,904 28,543 27,547 27,573

 The fair value of the corporate bonds are classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy as they are based on quoted  
 bid prices in an active market.

  (iii) Financial instruments for which carrying amount approximates the fair value

   The carrying amount of the Group’s other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to  
   relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.
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